STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEAL 08-13-20 STRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROBERT D. SPENCER,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appeal No. 2018AP000942 CR Trial Case No. Case No. 2014CF005088

(Milwaukee Co.)

APPEALED FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE FILED JULY 24, 2015 AND THE ORDER DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION FILED MAY 4, 2018 THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN PRESIDING.

> JOHN J. GRAU Attorney for Defendant-Appellant P. O. Box 54 414 W. Moreland Blvd. Suite 101 Waukesha, WI 53187-0054 (262) 542-9080 (262) 542-4860 (facsimile) State Bar No. 1003927

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

 Was the defendant denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel when the trial court interviewed and dismissed a juror?

2. Was the defendant's Constitutional Right to Due Process and Equal Protection violated when the trial court considered the race of the defendant and of trial participants when overruling the defendant's objection to the juror's dismissal.

3. Did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion in dismissing the juror?

4. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to hearsay testimony that bore on the causation element of felony murder?

STATEMENT ON NECESSITY OF ORAL ARGUMENT & PUBLICATION OF OPINION

Respondent-appellant does not request oral argument. The issues presented can be fully argued in the parties' briefs. We believe publication is warranted. The propriety of the trial court's interview of a juror without counsel being present, after the conclusion of testimony but prior to deliberations, and the subsequent dismissal of the juror, believe presents an issue of first impression. The propriety of the trial court's considering the race of trial participants when determining whether to dismiss the juror also presents an issue of first impression. If error is found, the applicability and scope of the harmless error doctrine also warrants publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was convicted in Milwaukee County Circuit Court of one count of felony murder by causing the death of Mr. T. M., while committing an armed robbery as party to a crime contrary to secs.943.32(2), 939.05 and 940.03 Wis. Stats. T.M. was an alleged accomplice of the defendant's. The defendant was also convicted of one count of possession of a firearm by a felon, contrary to secs. 941.29(2)(a) and 939.50(3)(g) Wis. Stats.

Following his conviction the defendant timely filed a notice of appeal and a postconviction motion. The postconviction motion alleged that the defendant was denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel when the trial court interviewed a juror out of counsel's presence after the close of testimony. It also alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to hearsay testimony that on the causation element of felony murder. bore The postconviction motion was denied without a hearing.

In addition to the Sixth Amendment and ineffective assistance issues referenced above, the defendant also is

appealing the dismissal of the juror over the defendant's trial objection.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The trial began on June 22, 2015 with jury selection. On June 23, prior to testimony, pretrial motions were addressed. One of the issues raised by the defense was that the jury panel was unconstitutionally unfair because the panel of 35 only included 2 African Americans. The defense alleged that the practice of using driver's licenses to summon jurors resulted in an unconstitutional racial composition of the jury panel. The court ruled that the manner in which jurors was summoned did not violate the defendant's constitutional rights. (R.179:22-32).

After pretrial matters had been addressed, the State argued to the jury and presented its theory of the case. The State argued that T.M. was killed over a debt and a disagreement over the debt between the defendant and Mr. R. S. The State told the jury that R.S. was outside a residence where he had a car towed when he was approached by Mr. Spencer and T. M., who was described as a friend of both Mr. Spencer and R.S. The State argued that the defendant grabbed R.S. with a firearm in his hand and went through his pockets, taking money and a cell phone. (R.179:48,49). The State stated that R.S. broke free and

ran away, and that Mr. Spencer then shot at him. (R.179:49).

The State informed the jury that it would hear that there was a second person with a firearm shooting from a window to protect R.S. The State alleged that T.M., Mr. Spencer's alleged accomplice, was shot during the exchange of shots. (R.179:49). To that end the prosecutor stated: "... you will hear that there is a second person with a firearm that day. They are going to be right in front of the residence shooting from a window. And they are going to return fire. They are going to protect R.S. They are going to be shooting at the defendant." (R.179:49).

It was on the basis of the above argument that the State claimed that the death of T.M. was caused by the alleged armed robbery.

Defense counsel's theory of defense was in essence that the jury would not be able to determine who did what beyond a reasonable doubt. (R.179:58).

In the evidentiary portion of the trial an important witness for the State was Mr. Lerone Towns, a truck driver. Mr. Towns testified that the night of the incident he picked up a vehicle at Sherman and Lloyd in Milwaukee. (R.181:124). The call for the tow came in under the name Mr. Green. (R.181:129). He testified that he made

arrangements with R.S. to tow the car to 23rd and Townsend (R.181:125). When he arrived at the drop off site he talked to R.S. about transactional details (R.181:131,132). He testified that R.S. indicated he needed to get money for the payment and went to the door of the residence. Mr. Towns was obtaining information off the vehicle when he heard a commotion at the door. (R.181:133). He saw two men standing in front of R.S. Their backs were to Mr. Townes. (P.134). He never saw their faces. (R.181:136). The men started "scuffling". (R.181:137). At one point a lighter skinned man pulled out a handgun. (R.181:137). He reached into R.S.'s pockets. (R.181:139) After a short scuffle, the man with the handgun dragged R.S. across the street. (R.181:139). They were then out of his sight. (R.181:141) heard gunfire. (R181:142). R.S. then ran past Mr. He Townes. (R.181:143) When the gunfire stopped, Mr. Towns got back in his truck and left. (R.181:144). The car he was towing was still on his flatbed. (R.181:145). He called his dispatcher and told him what happened. (R.181:144). While driving back to the shop he received a call from R.S. telling him another location for dropping off the vehicle. (R.181:145). When he dropped the vehicle off R.S. showed up with a man identified as Mr. Green. (R.181:150). Mr. Townes

was later contacted by police but was unable to identify the two alleged robbers. (R. 181:148).

The State's key identification witness was R.S. himself. He indicated that he knew T.M. since kindergarten. He identified Mr. Spencer as a person he knew as D or D Dog (R.182:23), and that he knew Mr. Spencer for a couple of months. He also identified Mr. Errion Green-Brown as a friend. (R.182:24). R.S. identified the residence at 23rd and Townsend as being a residence of his. (R.182:25). He indicated that Errion resided there also, as did Mr. Danny McKinney. (R.182:27).

Regarding the events of Sept. 8, 2014, he indicated that Errion's sister was using one of "the" cars when an axel broke. R.S. went to the location where the car had broken down and met with a tow truck. He had the car towed to 23rd and Townsend. (R.182:28). He testified that when the tow arrived at 23rd no one was outside the residence and that Danny McKinney was upstairs. He indicated that Mr. Green-Brown was not present. (R.182:29).

R.S. indicated that when the tow truck arrived he went in the house to use the bathroom. (R.182:30). He indicated that at one point he was approached by two males. He testified that he recognized T.M. as one of the two males but he did not recognize the other. (R.182:31).

R.S. indicated that the lighter skinned of the two people who approached him had a gun in his hand. The individual reached into R.S.'s pockets and took a couple of dollars and a phone. (R.182:32,33). He reiterated that he did not know who it was. (R.182:34).

R.S. further testified that he saw a minivan and thought that he was going to be put in the van. (R.182:36). He broke away and heard shots being fired. (R.182:37). He did not know who fired the shots. (R.182:37). He testified that he was later told that "Danny" fired from the residence to protect him. (R.182:37,38). He testified that he got in his car and drove off. (R.182:38).

In short, R.S. denied that Mr. Spencer was involved in the incident.

R.S. was declared an adverse witness and was questioned extensively by the State regarding statements he made to detectives prior to trial wherein he allegedly identified the defendant as the person with т.м. (R.182:46). Nevertheless, R.S. insisted that Mr. Spencer was not the individual involved. (R.182:50). At one point R.S. indicated that, "(t) hey threatened me if I didn't cooperate; they would lock me up and charge me with the crime." (R.182:32).

On cross-examination by defense counsel R.S. testified that he was arrested shortly after the incident in the middle of the night and questioned for about an hour. (R.182:56). He indicated that he was subsequently interviewed a number of times, and that he was throwing up during interviews. (R.182:57). He testified that he was sick when he was arrested. (R.182:59).

R.S. indicated that when he was interviewed he was trying to give answers he thought would please the police. (R.182:62). He testified that when he was questioned by the police they repeatedly asked him if he had а qun. (R.182:64). He indicated that he was told by police that he would be charged. (R.182:65). He was afraid of being charged with what Mr. Spencer was charged with. (R.182:65,66). He indicated that when he talked to the police he thought that if he helped the police he would not "end up where Mr. Spencer is." (R.182:71). He indicated that Mr. Spencer did not take any money from his pocket but that he thought the police were saying that if he didn't give up Mr. Spencer he would be charged. (R.182:73).

R.S. also testified that at one point he was questioned by detectives who were seeking information about Mr. Errion Green-Brown. (R.182:.60,61). He indicated he

gave a different name for Mr. Green-Brown because he didn't want to get him in trouble. (R.182:64).

The defendant alleged in his postconviction motion that police reports indicated that Danny McKinney refused to be interviewed by the police.(R.147:7).

On June 26 the trial day began with a conference which the trial transcript indicates began at 8:59 a.m. After the conference a recess was taken. (R.184:19). When the court reconvened the court stated that it had been advised that a juror was not feeling well.

Over objection, the juror was excused. Additional facts shall be provided in the pertinent argument sections below.

ARGUMENT

The defendant argues that his Sixth Amendment right to counsel was violated when the court interviewed the juror without defense counsel being present, that his due process and equal protection rights were violated when the trial court dismissed the juror, and that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion when it excused the juror.

The defendant also argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of hearsay testimony. Specifically, trial counsel failed to

object to hearsay testimony identifying Danny McKinney as returning fire to protect R.S. at the time of the alleged robbery.

I. THE DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO COUNSEL WHEN THE TRIAL COURT INTERVIEWED A JUROR IN CHAMBERS.

After the completion of testimony on June 25th, the case was adjourned to the 26th.

On June 26th, the day began with a conference which the trial transcript indicates began at 8:59 a.m. After the conference a recess was taken. The transcript indicates that the recess lasted 45 minutes. (R.184:19). When the court reconvened the court stated that it had been half an hour or forty five minutes since it earlier went off the record. The court indicated that it had gone off the record because it had been advised that a juror was not feeling well. The court told the attorneys that it had had the bailiff take the juror into chambers to give her a quiet place to rest, to see if she would feel better. (R.184:19). The court then stated:

She is not well enough to proceed. And when I asked her about 15, 20 minutes ago if she thought she would feel well enough to proceed in any particular length of time, her answer was very tentative and she said unlikely basically and she didn't know how long she would be before she could participate. She is, if you want to

know the details, queasy, light headed, just unwell generally.

I did inquire. She said she's been having some health issues as of late and believes that these are - her words - "the reminisce" of some health issues that have been going on I think last week (sic).

I conferred with the attorneys. We met in the back. I advised the attorneys going along what was the cause for the delay and what was being done to assist the juror and we agreed to wait and we've now waited a significant period of time. And I have to be mindful that we have the remaining 12 sitting back in the jury room waiting to move forward.

I understand the significance of this for both sides, frankly. This is the only African-American juror on the panel. But I am not prepared to put her health at risk by having her continue to go to deliberations when she is so unwell. After we met, the defense asked а question for purposes of the record which I do not find inappropriate. I did ask - I inquired along the lines of the concern the defense had. I asked the juror if her stress or not being well enough to proceed had anything to do with her service as a juror or with the behavior of any of the other jurors. Her response to me was "Oh, no. This has nothing to do with the trial." So I'm satisfied with that response. I've made my record. (R. 184:20,21).

The court then indicated that the juror was excused

for cause. Defense counsel was the told that she could make

her record. Counsel stated:

At the outset of this trial when the panel was impaneled and after the composition of the potential jurors was revealed, I expressed to the court concern about the underrepresentation of minorities at that point in the room. The following morning I brought a <u>Swain</u> challenge based on the pool of people that is from the Department of Transportation's photo ID and state ID records and that it underrepresented AfricanAmericans. The court denied the challenge, ruling that I had not met my burden of proof. (R.184:22,23).

Counsel went on to move for a mistrial because of the removal of the Juror (R.184:23).

It is our contention that the court's communication with the juror outside the presence of Mr. Spencer and his attorney violated Mr. Spencer's right to counsel, as guaranteed by Article I, § 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

In the defendant's postconviction motion he alleged that he was denied his Sixth Amendment right to counsel when the court questioned the juror out of counsel's presence. Although the record seems to show that the court's discussions with the juror were outside the presence of counsel, to be safe the defendant's postconviction motion affirmatively alleged that counsel would testify that the trial court's discussions with the excused juror were outside of the presence of counsel, and that the defendant did not waive counsel's presence at the questioning of the juror. (R.147:13).

The trial court denied the motion determining that the questioning of the juror did not constitute a critical stage in the proceeding, and even if it was error to

question the juror outside the presence of counsel, the error was harmless. We disagree with both findings. In this section of the brief, we will address whether the questioning of the juror constituted a critical stage in the proceeding. In a later section we address the harmless error question.

An accused has a right to be represented by counsel at all critical stages of a trial. The right to have counsel present is guaranteed by Article I, Section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. See **State v**. **Anderson**, 2006 WI 77, 291 Wis. 2d 673, 717 N.W.2d ¶67, and **State v. Alexander**, 2013 WI 70, 349 Wis. 2d 327, 833 N.W.2d 126, ¶29.

A defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel has been described as the right "... to have counsel at every stage where he or she needs aid in dealing with legal problems." **State v. Koller**, 2001 WI APP 253, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶62.

The constitutional right to be assisted by counsel has been addressed in a number of contexts involving jurors. For example, the right applies whenever a court communicates with deliberating jurors. See Anderson, ¶¶43 & 69; State v. Burton, 112 Wis. 2d560, 565, 334 N.W.2d 263

(1983); State v. Koller, 2001 WI App 253, ¶62, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838. In State v. Lehman, 108 Wis. 2d 291, 321 N.W.2d 212 (1982) our supreme court indicated that when the court questions a deliberating juror about his or her request to be removed, it should be done in "... the presence of all counsel and the defendant." Lehman at 300.

The requirement that counsel be present when the court interviews a juror in mid trial has also been noted by our supreme court. Alexander, cited above, addressed а defendant's right to be present himself when a trial court interviewed jurors in chambers during the trial. The lead opinion in **Alexander** indicated that Alexander did not have a constitutional right to be present himself at the discussions in chambers with the jurors. The court stated, "(a)ll the Constitution requires is the presence of defense counsel." ¶29. Because defense counsel was present, Alexander's Sixth Amendment rights were not violated.

This case involves the individual questioning of a juror after the evidentiary portion of the trial had concluded, but before deliberations had begun. Consistent with the requirement that counsel be present when a court interviews a juror during the trial, and during deliberations, a defendant should be entitled to counsel's

presence during the questioning of a juror after the close of evidence, but before deliberations have begun.

A requirement that counsel be present during the contact with the juror that occurred in this case is also consistent with the purpose of requiring counsel's presence during a critical stage in the proceedings.

The record reflects that the defendant felt that a true jury of his peers would include at least one African-American. At the outset of the trial the defendant challenged the jury pool on the basis that it lacked sufficient numbers of African Americans. His objection was denied and the jury was chosen. The juror dismissed in this case, juror #2, was the only African American on the jury. When objecting to the juror's dismissal counsel argued that the presence of one African-American on the jury could reduce "systemic bias" (R.184:24).

It was reasonable for Mr. Spencer to desire a diverse jury. The benefits of a diverse jury has been articulated by Justice Thurgood Marshall in the U.S. Supreme Court ruling, **Peters v. Kiff**, 407 U.S. 493, 503 (1972). He stated: "When any large and identifiable segment of the community is excluded from jury service, the effect is to remove from the jury room qualities of human nature and

varieties of human experience, the range of which is unknown and perhaps unknowable."

Given the importance to the defendant of having a diverse jury, the benefit of having counsel present at the time the juror was questioned is evident. At this stage of the proceeding a juror can only be dismissed for cause. That is a legal determination to be made by a court that an attorney could weigh in on. Furthermore, counsel could have explored the extent and duration of the juror's illness with an eye towards requesting a continuance for a few hours, if appropriate, or even a day.

As the Anderson court stated, citing a federal decision: "... the purpose of defense counsel's presence in the context of a trial court's communication with the jury is to allow counsel to 'prime the pump of persuasion' and thus, potentially convince the court to address the jury communication in a manner that would support the defendant's interests." Anderson at ¶69.

In short, there were legal issues to be addressed where trial counsel could have acted on behalf of her client and his interests.

For the above reasons we believe the questioning of the juror was a critical stage in the proceedings.

Therefore, the defendant was denied his right to counsel at a critical stage and is entitled to a new trial.

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