Filed 10-19-2021

Page 1 of 47

FILED 10-19-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2018AP942-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Cross Petitioner,

v.

ROBERT DARIS SPENCER,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-CROSS PETITIONER

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Cross Petitioner

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

Given this precedent, the issue of whether harmlesserror analysis applies to what happened here isn't difficult to resolve. Had the alleged critical stage been the entire proceeding concerning Juror 2's dismissal, any argument that there was a complete denial of counsel warranting the presumption of prejudice would be meritless given counsel's advocacy on the issue. Perhaps recognizing as much, Spencer has narrowed the relevant stage to the court's communications with Juror 2 about her illness and ability to proceed. But this argument fares no better, as counsel's participation outside of those discussions renders them innocuous. That is, it cannot be said that the denial of counsel was extreme enough to warrant a presumption of prejudice when counsel was informed of the information gathered during the ex parte communications and had the opportunity to advocate for her client on the issue of Juror 2's dismissal. Compare Penson, 488 U.S. at 88 (presuming prejudice because "the denial of counsel . . . left petitioner completely without counsel during the appellate court's actual decisional process").

Further, even if Spencer had received *no* advocacy on the juror issue, it doesn't follow that the prosecution would be presumptively unreliable. This Court would ask if there's any "way to know whether . . . appropriate arguments . . . might have affected the ultimate judgment in this case." *Herring v. New York*, 422 U.S. 853, 864 (1975). It's one thing to say that it's hard to tell whether a counseled argument would have kept a sick juror on the jury. But it's quite another to say that

Case 2018AP000942 BR2 - State of WI Filed 10-19-2021 Page 29 of 47

it's impossible to measure how this case would have turned out had Juror 2 deliberated when there was overwhelming evidence of Spencer's guilt. *Compare id.* at 864 (noting several holes in the prosecution's case in applying the presumption of prejudice). Thus, even assuming more aggravated facts than what happened here, Spencer still wouldn't have a strong argument for structural error.

Because any error here is quantifiable, harmless-error analysis applies.

Spencer doesn't acknowledge that "the presumption of prejudice . . . happens rarely," Schmidt, 911 F.3d at 479, but he seems to recognize he faces an uphill battle in convincing this Court to apply it here. (Spencer's Br. 27.) He offers no case—binding or otherwise—with remotely similar facts where prejudice was presumed. (Spencer's Br. 19–29.) For example, Spencer cites to this Court's decision in S.M.H., which held "that a proceeding in which a court decides a disputed matter in favor of the State, before allowing the respondent the option of presenting his case-in-chief," constitutes structural error. In re S.M.H., 2019 WI 14, ¶ 16, 385 Wis. 2d 418, 922 N.W.2d 807; (Spencer's Br. 21.) That's a lot different than what happened in this case, and so is denying a defendant his right to counsel of choice. (Spencer's Br. 22.) Spencer also relies on the non-binding *Hinton* decision to support his argument for structural error (Spencer's Br. 24–27), but *Hinton* applies a harmless-error analysis to a court's erroneous dismissal of a juror, see Hinton v. United States, 979 A.2d 663, 690 (D.C. 2009). So, Hinton only undermines Spencer's position.

That Spencer is hard-pressed to show how any denial of counsel here is extreme enough to warrant a presumption of prejudice isn't surprising given how rarely the presumption applies. To the extent he's claiming that a lack of a transcribed record makes this case unique enough to apply Case 2018AP000942 BR2 - State of WI Filed 10-19-2021 Page 30 of 47

the presumption (Spencer's Br. 29), he's incorrect. See, e.g., Tulley, 248 Wis. 2d 505, ¶¶ 3, 11.

As shown below, any error in this case is capable of measurement, like most right-to-counsel violations. *See Schmidt*, 911 F.3d at 479.

2. There's not a reasonable possibility that the alleged error contributed to Spencer's conviction.

It's the State's burden to prove harmless error. See Burton, 112 Wis. 2d at 570. "An error is harmless if there is no reasonable possibility that the error affected the outcome of the trial." Koller, 248 Wis. 2d 259, \P 62. "A 'reasonable possibility' is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the proceeding." Tulley, 248 Wis. 2d 505, \P 7.

A reviewing court considers "the totality of the circumstances" in evaluating harmless error. *State v. Hunt*, 2014 WI 102, ¶ 29, 360 Wis. 2d 576, 851 N.W.2d 434. Accordingly, in the context of ex parte communications between a court and the jury, courts have properly "examine[d] the circumstances and substance of the communication in light of the entire trial to determine whether the error was harmless." *Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 62.

To be clear, any error here would be the denial of Spencer's right to counsel during the court's limited discussion with Juror 2 about the details of her illness and her ability to proceed with deliberations. It's *not* "the dismissal of the juror," as Spencer claims. (Spencer's Br. 44, 46.) So, the specific inquiry is whether there's a reasonable possibility that counsel's absence during the ex parte discussions affected the outcome of Spencer's trial. *See Koller*, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 62.

Case 2018AP000942 BR2 - State of WI Filed 10-19-2021 Page 31 of 47

To answer that question yes, this Court would need to make at least two tenuous assumptions. The first is that defense counsel's presence during the communications could have kept Juror 2—who by all accounts was sick—on the jury. It's difficult to imagine what defense counsel could have done in those moments that she did not later receive the opportunity to do once the court conferred with the parties about the situation. Again, Spencer's only ideas are that counsel could have "thoroughly explored" Juror 2's illness and "thoroughly investigated" whether it was a pretext. (Spencer's Br. 18.) Thus, the suggestion is that counsel could have elicited *more* information on these topics than did the circuit court, and the information could have improved the chances of keeping Juror 2 on the jury. There's no reason to believe that's true, and courts have consistently denied new trials where "the possibility of prejudice is found beyond a reasonable doubt to be merely speculative or hypothetical." Mills, 107 Wis. 2d at 372; see also Burton, 112 Wis. 2d at 572–73.

The second tenuous assumption this Court would need to make to find harmful error is that Juror 2's presence for deliberations could have led to a different trial outcome. There's nothing in the record to support that as a reasonable possibility.

Juror 2 was just as impartial as any other juror. See Gribble, 248 Wis. 2d 409, ¶ 12. The State agrees with Spencer that Juror 2 would have brought her "individual perspective[] and background to the jury room." (Spencer's Br. 23.) It also concurs with the premise that individual jurors may evaluate evidence differently. (Spencer's Br. 23.) But even the case that Spencer urges this Court to follow says, "In many cases, where twelve impartial jurors have voted unanimously to" convict, courts "might be persuaded that the erroneously removed thirteenth juror would not have viewed the evidence differently." Hinton, 979 A.2d at 691. "[F]or example . . . if the

Case 2018AP000942 BR2 - State of WI Filed 10-19-2021 Page 32 of 47

government's case is strong and there is no reason apparent in the record to think the erroneously removed juror would have dissented, a reviewing court could be satisfied that the juror substitution had no substantial influence on the outcome." *Id.*; accord State v. Monahan, 2018 WI 80, ¶ 56, 383 Wis. 2d 100, 913 N.W.2d 894 (the strength of the State's case is an important factor in the harmless-error analysis).

That's this case. As a preliminary matter, nothing in the record supports the idea that Juror 2 would have dissented. *Compare Hinton*, 979 A.2d at 692 (the record contained evidence that the dismissed juror was skeptical "of the police testimony"). That leaves the strength of the State's case, which was overwhelming.

There seems to be no genuine dispute that an armed robbery caused T.M.'s death. The physical evidence and testimony of numerous witnesses established as much. Again, the unbiased Towns said that he saw two men rob R.S. at gunpoint and drag him into the street. (R. 181:134-42.) Within a minute, Towns heard "nothing but gunfire" from that area and saw R.S. flee. (R. 181:142-45.) R.S. confirmed this account and identified T.M. as the unarmed suspect. (R. 182:31–44.) Neighbors in the area, the "ShotSpotter," and Officer Ivy substantiated the claims of successive gunfire that night. (R. 179:62, 64–65, 67–69, 76–77; 181:94, 99–100, 106.) The ballistics showed that there were two shooters: one from a kitchen window at R.S.'s residence, and one near the area where police found a gold minimal and T.M.'s body. (R. 36; 56; 57; 180:11–12, 14–27, 30–31, 33–35, 79–85; 181:225–27.) T.M. sustained a gunshot wound to the head and died. The cause of death was homicide. (R. 181:218–19.)

In other words, it's clear that there was an armed robbery, which caused a shootout, which caused T.M.'s death. The real dispute here is whether the State had strong evidence that Spencer was the armed robber. (Spencer's Br. 46–50.) The answer is yes.

Case 2018AP000942 BR2 - State of WI Filed 10-19-2021 Page 33 of 47

At the time of the armed robbery, R.S. knew Spencer. (R. 182:23–24.) In fact, Spencer had been looking for R.S. to settle a \$5000 debt, and the man who approached R.S. that night asked, "Where is the money at?" (R. 182:23–24, 34, 40–41.) During the robbery, R.S. got dragged toward a gold minivan in the street. (R. 182:36.) Spencer's fingerprint was found on the van, and there were documents in his name inside the vehicle. (R. 83; 181:45–49, 53, 75.) By the way, Spencer was seen with the van and T.M. just hours before the robbery. (R. 181:83–97.)

Before R.S. even spoke with police, he identified Spencer as the armed robber. (R. 183:5–7, 10, 31–32.) He promised T.M.'s sister that he would tell police what happened, and he did. (R. 182:31–32; 183:10.) The jurors learned that R.S. initially identified Spencer, and they watched portions of R.S.'s interview with police. (R. 182:31–38; 183:30–41.) They also heard from Detective O'Day, who said that he never threatened R.S. to identify Spencer. (R. 183:37.) In fact, O'Day didn't start pressing R.S. about whether he had a gun that night until after R.S. identified Spencer. (R. 183:58.) Moreover, as with T.M.'s sister and police, R.S. told one of his girlfriends that a man named Spencer was involved in the robbery. (R. 182:45, 51.)

The jury had a front row seat to R.S.'s recantation, which was inconsistent. At times, he still identified Spencer as one of the suspects. (R. 182:24–25, 39–40.)

Finally, Spencer didn't present an alibi defense at trial. (R. 183:80–81.)

Thus, in terms of identification, the jury had a choice. Should it believe R.S.'s initial account, when there was a motive for Spencer to rob R.S., when Spencer was with T.M. hours before the robbery, when physical evidence connected Spencer to the scene, when R.S. accused Spencer before talking to police, and when Spencer had no alibi? Or should it

Case 2018AP000942 BR2 - State of WI Filed 10-19-2021 Page 34 of 47

believe R.S.'s trial recantation, when he still sometimes identified Spencer, when the jury watched a portion of his purportedly threatening police interview, and when he accused Spencer *before* being questioned about having a gun that night? This isn't a difficult decision.

Spencer disagrees because there other were "identifiers" at the scene. (Spencer's Br. 47.) By this, he means a fruit punch bottle with R.S.'s roommate's DNA on it. (Spencer's Br. 47–48; R. 182:26–27.) It's unremarkable that police found a bottle containing Errion Green-Brown's DNA by his own house. Also, Green-Brown is the same roommate who showed up with R.S. to meet Towns after the armed robbery. (R. 181:151.) Why, after being scared for his life and fleeing the scene, would R.S. jump in the car with the roommate who robbed him to meet the tow truck driver? (R. 182:36–37, 46, 55.) Spencer's suggestion that Green-Brown was the armed robber is illogical. (Spencer's Br. 47–49.)

The other evidence that Spencer believes gave the jury pause was that the gold minivan was registered to a man named Justin Gray, and his paperwork and fingerprints (along with the fingerprints of two other individuals) were found on the vehicle. (Spencer's Br. 47.) Again, it's unremarkable that police found paperwork and fingerprints connected to the registered owner of the vehicle. It's also unsurprising that there would be other fingerprints on the van. That's because of the *remarkable* fact that Spencer was seen with the vehicle (and T.M.) hours before the robbery, demonstrating that Gray lent his car to other people. Further, the jury didn't hear testimony that R.S. owed money to Gray or anyone else—just Spencer.

Spencer also stresses R.S.'s recantation in arguing prejudice, but he downplays that R.S. identified him before speaking to police, which is what prompted the interview in

Case 2018AP000942 BR2 - State of WI Filed 10-19-2021 Page 35 of 47

the first place.³ (Spencer's Br. 48–49.) And he doesn't acknowledge that when R.S. did talk to police, he identified Spencer before being "repeatedly asked . . . if he had a gun." (Spencer's Br. 49.)

In short, the evidence was overwhelming, and there is no reason to believe that Juror 2 would have dissented. Thus, even under Spencer's preferred harmless-error analysis, there is no reasonable possibility that any right-to-counsel violation contributed to his conviction.⁴ (Spencer's Br. 44–45.)

Finally, although it seems that Spencer's preferred harmless-error analysis narrowly focuses on the strength of the State's case, that's contrary to the totality-of-thecircumstances test that courts are supposed to employ. Because courts must evaluate the substance of the exparte communication "in light of the entire trial," Koller, 248 Wis. 2d 259, ¶ 62, it's relevant that Spencer's deliberating jurors were impartial. Wisconsin law supports this proposition. See Tulley, 248 Wis. 2d 505, ¶ 11; State v. Avery, 2011 WI App 124, ¶ 58, 337 Wis. 2d 351, 804 N.W.2d 216 (dealing with the dismissal of a deliberating juror). Indeed, so does Spencer's preferred case, Hinton. See Hinton, 979 A.2d at 691. And it makes sense that the impartiality of the remaining jurors should factor into the analysis when the ultimate question is whether this Court lacks confidence in the outcome. See Tulley, 248 Wis. 2d 505, ¶ 7.

³ One of many reasons why the non-binding *Hobbs* is inapposite is that Quintessa Gaines credibly testified that R.S. told her that Spencer was the armed robber. (Spencer's Br. 45–49.)

⁴ It's not accurate, as Spencer asserts, that the *Hinton* court said that "the government would rarely be able to show a lack of prejudice" when analyzing the loss of an empaneled juror. (Spencer's Br. 44–45.) The *Hinton* court retreated from a previous statement it made in that regard, acknowledging that "[i]n many cases" the government may succeed in showing harmless error. *Hinton v. United States*, 979 A.2d 663, 691 (D.C. 2009).

Case 2018AP000942 BR2 - State of WI Filed 10-19-2021 Page 36 of 47

Spencer suggests that the court of appeals in this case found harmless error solely because there is no reason to question the impartiality of the deliberating jurors. (Spencer's Br. 19–20, 24, 28–29.) As noted above, however, this was one of two reasons why the court of appeals found harmless error. (Spencer's App. 110–11.)

If anything, the court of appeals' opinion suffers from being incomplete. It didn't consider the overwhelming evidence of Spencer's guilt in finding harmless error. *Compare Burton*, 112 Wis. 2d at 572–73. It's the strength of the State's case, the impartiality of the deliberating jurors, and the substance of the ex parte communications that makes any error here harmless.

II. Spencer forfeited his remaining challenges.

A. A defendant must properly preserve most issues to raise them on appeal.

"It is the often-repeated rule in this State that issues not raised or considered in the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal." *State v. Bodoh*, 226 Wis. 2d 718, 737, 595 N.W.2d 330 (1999) (citation omitted). This includes alleged constitutional errors. *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. "The party who raises an issue on appeal bears the burden of showing that the issue was raised before the circuit court." *Id*.

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